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I.
BY THE COMMISSION:

A.
Statement

This matter comes before the Commission for considera-tion of exceptions to Decision No. R98-1005 (“Recommended Deci-sion”) filed by MCI Telecommunications Corporation (“MCI”).  In Decision No. R98-1005, the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) ruled upon MCI’s complaint against U S WEST Communications, Inc. (“USWC”), accepting some of MCI’s arguments and rejecting others.  MCI, pursuant to the provisions of § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., has filed exceptions to the Recommended Decision.  USWC has submitted its response to the exceptions.  Now being duly advised in the premises, we will deny the exceptions and affirm the Recommended Decision in its entirety.

B.
Discussion

1. This proceeding, a complaint by MCI against USWC, concerns USWC’s offering of the program denominated “Buyers Advantage” to the general public.
  In the Buyers Advantage plan, USWC agreed to market some of its own telecommunications services in conjunction with interLATA telecommunications service provided by Qwest Communications Corporation (“Qwest”).  Specifically, under the program USWC marketed its own local exchange service, intraLATA toll service, calling cards, and prepaid phone cards, and Qwest’s interLATA telecommunications service.  Buyers Advan-tage was marketed as a “one stop shopping” plan where consumers could meet all their telecommunications needs by contacting USWC.  Pursuant to an agreement with Qwest, under the Buyers Advantage plan, USWC served as the initial point of customer contact for information, customer service, repair, customer inquiry, and billing services.  The Recommended Decision points out that all services included in the Buyers Advantage program were offered to consumers at the same tariffed prices as offered outside the plan by USWC and Qwest.

2. MCI filed its complaint with the Commission on May 13, 1998 challenging the legality of USWC’s provision of Buyers Advantage.  In its complaint, MCI raised a number of argu-ments.  After hearing, the ALJ concluded that the Commission has jurisdiction over Buyers Advantage, and that the program comes within the requirements of § 40-3-103, C.R.S.  Consequently, the ALJ found, USWC should have filed tariffs concerning Buyers Advantage prior to offering it to consumers.  The ALJ further concluded that USWC had granted an unlawful preference to select carriers, including Qwest, by offering the program to such car-riers first, and not making the program generally available to all carriers at the same time.  In light of these findings, the ALJ’s recommended order was that, prior to any further offering of the Buyers Advantage program, that USWC file the terms and conditions under tariff, and the terms and conditions of the program should be available to all carriers wishing to par-ticipate.

3. The ALJ also concluded that the remainder of MCI’s arguments should be rejected including its arguments that:  (1) USWC had received hidden compensation under the program which constituted an unlawful rebate, an illegal preference, or an improper cross-subsidy; (2) USWC and Qwest, under the Buyers Advantage plan, were operating in a joint enterprise, venture, partnership, or affiliation in the provision of local and long distance (i.e., interLATA) telecommunications services without approval from the Commission; and (3)  USWC was obligated to obtain Commission approval for the marketing of Buyers Advantage under the provisions of § 40-15-306, C.R.S.

C.
Ruling on Exceptions

1. MCI raises a number of objections to the Recom-mended Decision.  First, while agreeing with the ALJ’s conclusion that USWC improperly failed to file tariffs prior to offering Buyers Advantage, MCI suggests that additional findings should be made and additional authority cited in support of the ALJ’s conclusion.  We reject this suggestion as unnecessary.  The ALJ’s conclusion regarding the necessity of approved tariffs for the offering of Buyers Advantage is sufficiently supported by the findings in the Recommended Decision.  We also note that USWC has not challenged the ALJ’s recommendation on this point.  As such, there is no need for further findings or additional citation of legal authority to support the Recommended Decision’s conclusion.

2. Second, MCI contends that the ALJ erred in finding that USWC, through the Buyers Advantage plan, was not engaging in the interLATA telecommunications business.  In support of its exceptions, MCI cites the Federal Communications Commission’s (“FCC”) recent decision (FCC 98-242, adopted September 28, 1998) that USWC, through Buyers Advantage, did provide interLATA serv-ice in violation of § 271 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“Act”).

3. As USWC points out, the FCC’s decision does not constitute evidence for purposes of the present record.  More-over, we note that MCI’s complaint here was specifically based upon Colorado law only; MCI did not seek to raise its federal claims (e.g., violations of the Act) in this proceeding.  See page 2 of the complaint.  We further note that this argument (i.e., that USWC provided interLATA service without Commission authority) was, in large part, based upon its contention that USWC and Qwest were operating in a joint enterprise, venture, partnership, or affiliation.  The ALJ concluded that the evidence failed to establish such a joint venture or similar arrangement.  Furthermore, the ALJ found that the evidence did not establish that USWC was holding itself out as offering interLATA service.

4. In light of the specific arguments and evidence presented by MCI in this case, we affirm the Recommended Deci-sion.  For the reasons stated by the ALJ and those stated here, we are unable to conclude that Buyers Advantage constituted the provision of interLATA service by USWC without Commission author-ity.

5. Next, MCI argues that the Commission should order USWC to pay reparations (to MCI or, alternatively, to the Colorado High Cost Fund) for those customers who subscribed to the illegal Buyers Advantage program.  Similarly, MCI contends that customers who subscribed to Buyers Advantage should be returned to their previous interLATA carrier; or, alternatively, USWC should be required to notify those customers that they have an opportunity to subscribe to a new carrier of their choice without charge.  In support of these requests, MCI argues that the program was unlawfully provided, and failure to adopt these suggestions would permit USWC to profit from unlawful activity.  Section 40-6-119, C.R.S., MCI further suggests, authorizes the Commission to order reparations in these circumstances.

6. We will deny these requests.  With respect to the payment of reparations by USWC, § 40-6-119, C.R.S., provides:


When complaint has been made to the commission concerning any rate, fare, toll, rental, or charge for any product or commodity furnished or service performed by any public utility and the commission has found, after investigation, that the public utility has charged an excessive or discriminatory amount for such product, commodity, or service, the commission may order that the public utility make due reparation to the complainant therefor, with interest from the date of collection, provided no discrimination will result from such reparation.

(emphasis added)  Section 40-6-119, C.R.S., applies in circum-stances where a public utility has charged “an excessive or dis-criminatory amount” for a regulated service.  The evidence in this case does not establish that USWC charged an excessive or discriminatory rate for any service included in Buyers Advantage or for the provision of the program itself to Qwest.

As noted above, all services included in Buyers Advantage were provided to end-users at their tariffed rates.  Therefore, we are unable to conclude that any end-user paid an excessive or discriminatory charge.  The evidence also indicates that USWC charged Qwest a fee for each customer who subscribed to Qwest’s interLATA service under the Buyers Advantage program.  However, nothing in this record demonstrates that the fees charged to Qwest were unreasonable in any manner.
  Therefore, 

7. the instant record does not support an award of reparations under § 40-6-119, C.R.S.

8. As for returning Buyers Advantage customers to their previous interLATA carrier, we note that these customers are Qwest’s customers, not USWC’s.  USWC points out that MCI failed to make Qwest a party to this proceeding.  Consequently, ordering these customers to be returned to their previous car-rier, when Qwest is not a party to this case, would be improper.
  With respect to the suggestion that Buyers Advantage customers be given the opportunity, after notice from USWC, to select a dif-ferent interLATA carrier, again the failure to make Qwest a party to this case precludes such relief.

9. MCI finally argues that the ALJ erred in failing to find that Buyers Advantage contained specific preferences for both USWC and Qwest, and opportunities for cross-subsidy.  In particular, MCI contends that, under the program, USWC provided itself with preferential access to operations support systems, and that USWC provided Qwest preferential access to customer credit information and trouble complaints as compared to other carriers.  The exceptions also express concern that Buyers Advan-tage presents the opportunity for USWC to subsidize the program through the provision of other regulated services.

10. The concise answer to these claims, as USWC points out in its response, is that the instant record fails to support any of these contentions.
  Moreover, given the FCC’s order prohibiting USWC from offering Buyers Advantage for the fore-seeable future, these claims are also moot in great measure.

D.
Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we will deny the exceptions and affirm the Recommended Decision in all respects.

II.
order

A.
The Commission Orders That:

1. The exceptions to Decision No. R98-1005 filed by MCI Telecommunications Corporation are denied.

The 20-day period provided for in § 40-6-114(1), C.R.S., within which to file applications for rehearing, reargu-

2. ment, or reconsideration begins on the first day following the Mailed Date of this Decision.

3. This Order is effective on its Mailed Date.

B.
ADOPTED IN COMMISSIONERS’ WEEKLY MEETING
January 13, 1999.
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iii.
COMMISSIONER R. BRENT ALDERFER SPECIALLY Concurring

Although I concur in the opinion issued by the Commission today, I would clarify one additional point regarding MCI Tele-communications Corporation’s complaint:  While this proceeding is not the appropriate one for the Commission to consider an award of reparations (e.g., the record here is inadequate to make such an award), the Commission’s decision in this case should not preclude carriers affected by the illegal provision of the Buyers Advantage program from filing new complaints seeking such relief.  Unless the Commission is willing to consider such requests in new proceedings, USWC could have improperly benefited from its unlaw-ful conduct relating to the Buyers Advantage plan.
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R. BRENT ALDERFER
________________________________
Commissioner

� As pointed out in the Recommended Decision, the United States District Court in Seattle, Washington preliminarily enjoined all marketing activities under the Buyers Advantage program on June 4, 1998, pending consideration of the legality of the program by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”).  On September 28, 1998, in FCC 98-242, the FCC ruled that USWC’s offering of Buyers Advantage was illegal as a violation of 47 U.S.C. § 271.  That is, the FCC ruled that Buyers Advantage constituted the provision of in-region interLATA service by USWC without authorization by the FCC, contrary to the requirements of § 271.  The FCC’s ruling means that USWC can no longer provide Buyers Advantage.


� This argument is, in any event, largely moot.  The complaint sought a Commission order directing USWC to cease marketing Buyers Advantage until issuance of Commission authority for the service and approval of an appropriate tariff.  However, the FCC’s decision regarding Buyers Advantage in effect precludes USWC from offering the program for the foreseeable future (i.e., until USWC obtains § 271 approval from the FCC).


� Qwest itself has not complained to the Commission that any of the charged fees for the program were excessive or discriminatory.


� In addition, neither MCI nor any other interexchange carrier would have paid any monies to USWC under Buyers Advantage.  Consequently, an award of reparations pursuant to § 40-6-119, C.R.S., would be inappropriate.  To the extent MCI requests damages for USWC’s marketing of Qwest’s interLATA service under Buyers Advantage and assuming the Commission has authority to award damages, the present record does not support such an award to MCI.


� In addition, we observe that end-users who subscribed to Qwest’s interLATA service under Buyers Advantage apparently did so voluntarily.  In this circumstance, the Commission would have great concern with overturning an end-user’s choice of a service provider.


� In the exceptions, MCI complains that, due to the expedited nature of proceedings before the ALJ, it had insufficient opportunity to seek information through discovery from USWC relevant to these issues.  However, USWC observes that MCI itself was the party who requested that these proceedings be accelerated.
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